

Wholly owned by UTAR Education Foundation (Co. No. 578227-M) DU012(A)

A STUDY OF SLEEP QUALITY AND STRESS ON ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE

AMONG UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS IN MALAYSIA

EYVEN PHANG YEE MAN LOW HENG XIANG NG JIA SHENG

A RESEARCH PROJECT

SUBMITTED IN

PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR

THE BACHELOR OF SOCIAL SCIENCE (HONS) PSYCHOLOGY

FACULTY OF ARTS AND SOCIAL SCIENCE

UNIVERSITI TUNKU ABDUL RAHMAN

MAR. 2021

A Study of Sleep Quality and Stress on Academic Performance Among Undergraduate Students in Malaysia Eyven Phang Yee Man, Low Heng Xiang, and Ng Jia Sheng Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman

This research project is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Bachelor of Social Science (Hons) Psychology, Faculty of Arts and Social Science, Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman. Submitted on March 2021.

Acknowledgements

A special big thanks to the UTAR Scientific and Ethical Research Committee for approving this research. Not to mention Ms. Natasha Amira Binti Hushairi, the only supervisor of this thesis, without your patient guidance, enthusiastic encouragement, and helpful critiques, we might have faced countless obstacles and challenges throughout the journey of this research work. We are truly appreciated the time and efforts you generously sacrificed in helping us. Besides, our sincere thanks also go to the first examiner, Dr. Chuang Huei Gau. Thanks for providing his valuable and insightful comments for this thesis.

In addition, we would like to express vast gratitude for each participant who has responded to our survey in this research. Thanks for having trust in us, and we conscientiously grateful for the information provided by you all. Other than the respondents, we wish to extend our appreciation to the research group members who have contributed immensely in perfecting this thesis. It would be impossible to complete this research without the assistance and cooperation of each of you. Thanks for those endless stimulating discussions, sleepless nights, and all the fun we had together.

Nonetheless, we wish to recognize our parents for their warm and sweet encouragement as well as their understanding. It is also whole-heartedly appreciate the assistance and clarifications provided by our classmates in this thesis. Just as importantly, we wish to acknowledge the emotional support and happy distractions handed over by our friends in resting our minds outside of this research. To every one of you, we thank you. This thesis has been completed by having all of your efforts and contributions.

EYVEN PHANG YEE MAN LOW HENG XIANG NG JIA SHENG

Approval Form

This research paper attached hereto, entitled "A Study of Sleep Quality and Stress on Academic Performance among Undergraduate Students in Malaysia" prepared and submitted by "Eyven Phang Yee Man, Low Heng Xiang and Ng Jia Sheng" in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Bachelor of Social Science (Hons) Psychology is hereby accepted.

notuha

Date: <u>29.03.2021</u>

Supervisor

(Cik Natasha Amira Binti Hushairi

Abstract

Previous studies examined whether sleep quality or stress is associated with low academic performance. Nonetheless, limited past studies discussed whether which variables contribute more towards their academic performance. Besides, there were inconsistent results on gender difference in the relationship between sleep quality and stress towards academic performance. Hence, the present study aimed to examine the relationship between sleep quality and stress on academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia. Furthermore, the present study also conducted to investigate whether gender played a significant role in the relationship between sleep quality and stress towards academic performance. In this quantitative and correlational research design, a sample of 384 undergraduate students in Malaysia (18-32 years; M=22.03; SD=1.634; Male=28.10%; Female=71.90%) were recruited through the convenience sampling method. The primary data was collected through an online survey method via Qualtrics. The key measures included Sleep Quality Scale and Perceived Stress Scale. The results indicated a significant, negative relationship with sleep quality, but not stress towards academic performance. Moreover, results indicate that there was a negative, significant relationship between both sleep quality and stress towards academic performance in females. The results revealed that sleep quality, but not stress significantly predicted undergraduate students' academic performance. While sleep quality and stress affected females more in academic performance. The current study closed the research gap and contributed to this field's research. Besides, the current study could serve as a wake-up call for university, society and undergraduate students on the factors that are more likely to influence academic performance.

Keywords: sleep quality, stress level, academic performance

Declaration

We declare that the material contained in this paper is the end result of our own work and that due acknowledgement had been given in the bibliography and references to ALL sources be they printed, electronic or personal.

Name: Eyven Phang Yee ManStudent ID: 17AAB03846Signed: Image: I

Name	: Low Heng Xiang
Student ID	: 17AAB02059
Signed	: Jan
Date	: 29 th March 2021

Name	: Ng Jia Sheng
Student ID	: 17AAB03019
Signed	: 20
Date	: 29 th March 2021

Table of Contents

			Page	
Abstract			i	
Declaration	1		ii	
List of Tab	les		V	
List of Figu	ures		vi	
List of Abb	orevia	ations	vii	
Chapters				
	1	Introduction	1	
		1.1 Background of Study		1
		1.2 Problem Statement		5
		1.3 Research Objective		8
		1.4 Research Questions		8
		1.5 Hypothesis		8
		1.6 Definition of Terms		9
		1.6.1 Conceptual Definitions		9
		1.6.2 Operation Definitions		9
		1.7 Significance of Study		10
	2	Literature Review	12	
		2.1 Sleep Quality		12
		2.2 Stress		15
		2.3 Sleep Quality and Academic Performance		16
		2.4 Stress and Academic Performance		19
		2.5 Sleep Quality, Stress and Academic		21
		Performance		
		2.6 Conceptual Framework		22
		2.7 Theoretical Framework		23
	3	Methodology	26	
		3.1 Research Design		26
		3.2 Research Sample		26
		3.3 Research Instruments		26
		3.3.1 Sleep Quality Scale (SQS)		27
		3.3.2 Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)		27

	3.4 Research Procedure		28
	3.5 Pilot Study		29
	3.6 Data Analysis Plan		30
4	Result	32	
	4.1 Missing Data and Outlier Check		32
	4.2 Descriptive Statistics		32
	4.3 Pearson Product Moment Correlation		34
	4.4 Multiple Regression Analysis		36
	4.5 Conclusion		37
5	Discussion and Conclusion	38	
	5.1 Discussion		38
	5.2 Implications of the Study		43
	5.2.1 Theoretical Implication		43
	5.2.2 Practical Implication		43
	5.3 Limitations		44
	5.4 Recommendations		46
	5.5 Conclusion		47
References		48	
Appendices		63	

Appendices		63	
	Appendix A: Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)		63
	Appendix B: Sleep Quality Scale (SQS)		65
	Appendix C: Boxplots for Sleep Quality Scale (SQS)		67
	Appendix D: Boxplots for Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)		68
	Appendix E: Turnitin Originality Report		69

List of Tables

Tables		Page
3.1	Statistical Test Used for Hypothesis Testing	31
4.1	Demographic Profile of the Respondents	32
4.2	Pearson Correlation for Sleep Quality and Academic Performance	34
4.3	Pearson Correlation for Stress and Academic Performance	34
4.4	Pearson Correlation for Sleep Quality and Academic Performance by	34
	Gender	
4.5	Pearson Correlation for Stress and Academic Performance by Gender	35
4.6	Summary of ANOVA	36
4.7	Regression Analysis Summary for Stress and Sleep Quality Predicting	36
	Academic Performance	

List of Figures

Figure	S	Page
2.1	Conceptual Framework of the Current Research	22
2.2	Theoretical Framework of the Current Research	25

List of Abbreviation

Abbreviation	Explanation
IBM SPSS	International Business Machines Corporation; Statistical Package
	for the Social Sciences
PSS	Perceived Stress Scale
SQS	Sleep Quality Scale
GPA	Grade Point Average
CGPA	Cumulative Grade Point Average
REM	Rapid Eye Moment
SWS	Slow Wave Sleep
BPS	Biopsychosocial Models of Stress
PPMC	Pearson Product Moment Correlation
MLR	Multiple Linear Regression
SS	Sum of Square
df	Degrees of Freedom
MS	Mean Square
F	Fisher's F Ratio
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
n	Number of Cases (generally in a subsample)
Ν	Total Number of Cases

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Background of Study

Sleep refers to a part that cannot be separated from human health and life is essential for a person's learning, practice, physical wellness as well as mental health (Dewald et al., 2010). According to Rose and Ramanan (2018), sleep is critical for proper cognitive functioning. Lately, many discovered findings indicate the significance of sleep in consolidating a person's memory, in which sleep appears to be stabilizing and enhancing an extensive amount of various memory contents (Diekelmann & Born, 2010). According to Ahrberg et al. (2012), they found that cognitive competencies play a great significant role in tertiary levels of education. Cognitive ability is often believed as the most demanding phase and challenging learning stage in most of the individual's lives. In other words, it could be interpreted as adequate sleep plays a crucial role in undergraduates' university life.

The terminology of "sleep quality" is broadly adopted by scholars, clinicians, and the community. However, this term is lacking a definitional concord. In Ohayon et al. (2017) study, the result showed there are no consistent guidelines on what constitutes a regular or optimal, healthy sleep and better sleeping quality. As stated by Landry, Best, and Liu-Ambrose (2015), sleep quality can be assessed subjectively through a combination of self-reported measures, such as measuring the difficulty in initiating sleep, sleep continuity problems, and the depth of sleep (Zavecz et al., 2020). Besides, Landry et al. (2015) indicated that it could also be measured objectively by assessing the individuals' sleep quantity, sleep quality, and sleep architecture through polysomnography (PSG). Recently, in Galea et al. (2020) study, the researchers have proposed sensors that are wearable could be utilized to analyze both sleep and activity outside of the clinical setting.

According to Araújo et al. (2013), they found sleep quality is vulnerable to human health. The researchers mentioned college students display bad sleeping quality. They stated that undergraduates' sleeping pattern was irregular, in which the university students inconsistently changed their sleeping start time and end time. Plus, their sleep time and awakening time was found earlier on weekdays and later on weekends. Besides, the study revealed undergraduates tend to sleep less on weekdays than at weekends, and they tend to have sleep deprivation problems while attending classes or during weekdays. Based on Schneider et al. (2011) study, they indicated sleeping irregularities could influence young people's health negatively. Additionally, they further claimed that sleep irregularities would affect the young adults' memory, concentration ability, ability to resolve problems, and also their academic performance (Schneider et al., 2011). Okano et al. (2019) study declared better sleep quality, longer sleep length, and greater sleep consistency was associated with better grades.

Asides from that, stress is experienced by everyone in the world regardless of academic background, profession, age, religion, or age (Yelkpieri, 2011). Stress is an inescapable topic as it is one of the important parts in life, as life itself is stress related (Ganesan et al., 2018; Kumar & Bhukar, 2012). In general, stress is divided into two different categories, which is eustress and distress. Eustress is defined as the positive form of stress that will drive us to keep going and become better (Tipton, 2020), while distress is defined as the negative form of stress that will suppress our learning and it should be avoided for us to live in fullest potential (Ganesan et al., 2018).

On top of that, stressors can be placed into two main categories, which is chronic stress and acute stress (Lumen Learning, n.d.; Life Line Screening, n.d.). Where chronic stress is the stress that persevere over a period of time (long-term stress), and acute stress is the stress that is experienced everyday (short-term stress) (Lumen Learning, n.d.; Life Line Screening, n.d.). The accumulation of acute stress could become chronic stress in the future. Stressors could come in different forms and distinct shapes. There are three common forms of stressors that have been identified, which include daily hassles, chronic strains and life events (Adam et al., 2015; Irby-Shasanmi & Redmond, 2014; Khan & Shamama-Tus-Sabah, 2020). Daily hassles is described as mirror irritation in daily life (Adam et al., 2015), such as traffic jams (Irby-Shasanmi & Redmond, 2014). The example of chronic stress would be getting a disability injury and living in an unsafe community (Irby-Shasanmi & Redmond, 2014). Life events included losing a job and being banged into car accidents (Irby-Shasanmi & Redmond, 2014). Past study found that these three stressors are intercorrelated to each other, which one type of stressor could provoke another type of stressor, and will lead to severe consequences either in physical health (Berkowsky, 2014) or emotion (Irby-Shasanmi & Redmond, 2014).

According to a few pieces of literature, the researchers stated the stress itself could further lead to more serious long-term impacts. For instance, a literature review of 13 articles done by Ribeiro et al. (2017) indicated that those individuals who undertake tertiary levels of education, their self-reported degrees of stress are correlated with lower quality of life and well-being. Besides, Moylan et al. (2013) stated that ongoing stress would cause the growth of more severe mental health problems, for instance, anxiety and depression. Studies found statistics showing that the undergraduates will have chances as high as 35% to encounter anxiety problems (Ozen et al., 2010) and up to 30% for depression (Ibrahim et al., 2013). All these previous works of literature explained the critical consequences of how stress could further bring so many negative long-term impacts on an individual. Furthermore, in Ahmed et al. (2019) study claimed that the prevalence of stress issues occurs, especially when undergraduates are less empowered with the capability to deal with the stressors. Therefore, the stress issue is a crucial problem that should not be undermined in undergraduates' university life.

On top of that, Olufemi et al. (2018) research stated that academic performance will be one of the main factors concerned by employers while recruiting employees, especially when they plan to hire fresh graduates. The researchers believe undergraduates have to place more efforts in their academics to accomplish better grades and to equip themselves for career opportunities in future prospects, meanwhile fulfilling the employer's requirement. In Olufemi et al. (2018) research, they recognized the life of students will become uncertain and full of distress if they achieved poorly in their academics during university time. As a result, academic performance plays an important role in undergraduates. According to Shahzadi and Ahmad (2011), student's academic performance has been one of the areas of interest and many researchers have a growing interest in investigating the factors that are associated with university students' academic performance.

Previous literature has found numerous factors, such as academic-related factors and non-academic related factors (Abdulghani et al., 2014) could affect undergraduates' academic achievements. Academic related factors refer to students' learning style and skills (Abdulghani et al., 2014; Olufemi et al., 2018), prioritization of the needs of learning (Abdulghani et al., 2014; Shahzadi & Ahmad, 2011), view on class attendance (Shahzadi & Ahmad, 2011), learning infrastructure and teachers' quality (Olufemi et al., 2018), while nonacademic related factors include time management (Abdulghani et al., 2014; Shahzadi & Ahmad, 2011), internal motivation, sleep quality, and stress (Abdulghani et al., 2014), parental background (Olufemi et al., 2018), family support (Abdulghani et al., 2014), peer influence (Olufemi et al., 2018), homesickness and language barrier (Abdulghani et al., 2014).

1.2 Problem Statement

Most undergraduate students are unaware that their sleep habits may be associated with their academic performance (Azad et al., 2015; Elagra et al., 2016; Gilbert & Weaver, 2010). Students may know that poor sleep quality will affect their health, but they do not really understand what the consequences of poor sleep quality are and how it will cause them resulting in low academic performance. Based on Raley et al. (2016) research, undergraduates did not prioritize their sleep and were more inclined to sacrifice their sleeping time for other commitments such as academic and social activities and this had led them to have irregular sleeping routines, bad sleeping habits and further cause the students to have poor academic achievements. Segaren (2018) article wrote most of the students were still being night owls although they understand it was not good for them but they still insisted to burn midnight oil, and slept at odd timing. Through the current research, undergraduates could learn to be aware of their sleeping habits and understand how sleep quality is associated with their academic performance.

Furthermore, a past study stated health care providers can heighten the undergraduates' awareness by conducting intervention programs to educate the university students about the knowledge of sleep, benefits of practicing good sleep hygiene and sleeping problems (Nurismadiana & Lee, 2018). However, encouraging undergraduates to practice good sleep hygiene might be challenging since the results of the previous studies are inconsistent. Some of the past research stated bad sleep quality would affect undergraduates' academic performance, whereas some of the research indicated that there is no relationship between both variables. For instance, in the recent study done by Siraj et al. (2014), they found that those participants who sleep fewer than 6 hours during the weekend significantly score lower CGPA compared to the respondents with sleep around six to eight hours and more than eight hours. Additionally, several studies agreed on the associations between sleeping quality and academic achievements (Ahrberg et al., 2012; Elagra et al., 2016; El Hangouche et al., 2018). However, contradicting results from Nihayah et al. (2011) study showed that sleeping hours would not influence undergraduates' academic performance in terms of their CGPA. Other few discoveries also declared that there is an insignificant relationship between both variables (Cabalo Jr et al., 2017; Jalali et al., 2020). Therefore, the mixed data might not be convincing enough to encourage undergraduate students to practice good sleep hygiene in their life for them to achieve better academic achievement. Hence, the current research wishes to find out an answer for the associations between the sleep quality and academic performance.

Nowadays, students at any level would be facing various kinds of stress depending on their academic and environmental factors (Yelkpieri, 2011), and it even became their routine of life (Kumar & Bhukar, 2012). Past studies showed that the stress level of undergraduate students is negatively associated with academic performances (Abdulghani et al., 2014; Elias et al., 2011; Gustems-Carnicer et al., 2019; Melaku et al., 2015; Sohail, 2013; Sommer & Dumont, 2011; Talib & Zia-ur-Rehman, 2012). Not many studies that discussed the relationship between stress and academic performance mentioned the mediator role of stress intervention programs in helping the students in reducing their stress (Melaku et al., 2015; Sohail, 2013). It is vital for universities to understand the significant effect of stress towards student's academic performance (Gustems-Carnicer et al., 2019) and come out with intervention plans such as workshops, conferences (Yelkpieri, 2011), counselling program (Talib & Zia-ur-Rehman, 2012) and university curriculum (Gustems-Carnicer et al., 2019) to assist students in managing their stress. Through that, undergraduate students will be able to learn how to lessen their stress level and this will lead to enhancement of their academic performance (Elias et al., 2011).

In the past, many researchers have studied whether sleep quality is associated with poor academic performance or whether the students' stress is associated with the students' low academics. However, there are limited studies on whether which variables contribute more towards students' low academic performance. Throughout our research, we found Ahrberg et al. (2012) research is very similar to the current study. Unfortunately, the literature is unable to determine the causal relations between all these three variables. The researchers were only able to highlight the significant interaction between those variables (Ahrberg et al., 2012). However, from a study conducted by Taylor et al. (2013), they manage to find the relationship between sleeping quality, stress, and academic achievements. The results of the research revealed sleeping variables as a significant predictor of academic performance in university students. However, they stated it has a minimal effect if compared with the past studies that did not manipulate other variables. Nonetheless, for the stress factor, they found Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) loses its significance effect after consisting of all of the probable predictors. After analysis, PSS was found its confidence level had been reduced in the past finds where additional predictors were not typically included in (Taylor et al., 2013). Due to limited past literature discussed, this research aims to find out which variables contribute more towards students' low academic performance.

Furthermore, a study from Fatima et al. (2016) revealed a significant gender difference in sleep quality and proof by the result. However, there are inconsistent findings on perceived stress level gender differences among gender differences. Some studies indicated that females are perceived more stressed than male (Thawabieh & Qaisy, 2012; Kumar & Bhukar, 2013), while the other study indicated that male are perceived more stressed than females (Pariat et al., 2014). This may be due to both male and female perceived stress in different ways and have different ways to cope with their stress (Anbumalar et al., 2017). Therefore, it is essential to study the relationship of sleep quality and stress on academic achievements by gender among tertiary levels' students in Malaysia.

1.3 Research Objective

To investigate the relationship between sleep quality and stress on academic performance among undergraduate students.

1.4 Research Questions

- i. Is there a relationship between sleep quality with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia?
- ii. Is there a relationship between stress with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia?
- iii. Is there a relationship between sleep quality by gender with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia?
- iv. Is there a relationship between stress by gender with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia?
- v. Is there a relationship between sleep quality and stress, with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia?

1.5 Hypothesis

- i. H1: There is a significant relationship between sleep quality with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia.
- H2: There is a significant relationship between stress with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia.
- H3: There is a difference in sleep quality by gender with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia.
- iv. H4: There is a difference in stress by gender with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia.

v. H5: There is a significant relationship between sleep quality and stress with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia.

1.6 Definition of Terms

1.6.1 Conceptual Definition

Sleep Quality. Sleep quality can be conceptual defined as the subjective perceptions on level of satisfaction of one's sleep experience, which included the components of refreshment upon awakening, sleep quantity, sleep maintenance and sleep initiation. Besides, sleep quality might have varied meanings for different people as poor sleep quality might be due to different determinants (Kline, 2013).

Stress. Stress is conceptually defined as either a bodily or mentally tension that is caused by physical, emotional, or mental factors (Medline Plus, 2018), and it will be affecting our health (National Institute of Mental Health, n.d.). Additionally, stress is normally grouped into two different sources, which come from internal and external (Shiel, 2018).

Academic Performance. In this review, academic performance is conceptually defined as the level of academic achievement of a student. This variable is also being used to keep track of their progress on short term and long-term educational goals (IGI Global, n.d.).

1.6.2 Operational Definition

Sleep Quality. Sleep quality in this study is defined as the evaluation in six main domains in sleep quality, which included difficulty waking, problems initiating and maintaining sleep, daytime symptoms, sleep satisfaction and restoration after sleep, which were measured by Sleep Quality Scale (SQS).

Stress. Stress in this study is defined as the perception of self-reported stress of an individual in the past month, measured by Perceived Stress Scale (PSS). It is used to measure the respondents' thoughts and feelings about the incidents that happened last month to measure their current stress level.

Academic Performance. In this study, academic performance is defined by using the Cumulative Grade Point Average (CGPA). It is calculated by averaging the Grade Point Average (GPA) for all completed semesters. The scale is between 1.0 and 4.0, which higher CGPA indicates greater academic performance.

1.7 Significant of Study

Firstly, we have conducted a study to investigate the associations of sleeping quality and stress on academic achievements among undergraduates. The objective of this study is finding out which factors have a higher tendency to cause students to affect their academic performance. The outcome of the study is it will help the undergraduate students to increase their awareness about the possible factor that will affect their academic performance. Therefore, undergraduate students will have the attempt to maintain a good sleep quality and learn to manage their stress because it will affect not only their academic performance, and also their health.

Moreover, this study may increase the awareness of university teachers that sleep quality and stress is a significant factor that will affect academic performance among undergraduate students. Hence, sleep quality and stress among undergraduate students should be part of the preventive and remedial work in university. University teachers should include an evaluation of sleep quality and stress in their initial assessments of undergraduate students to facilitate diagnosis and treatment planning. Preventively, this study will be a proof that university teachers should implement sleep educational programs to promote good sleep hygiene for better sleeping quality and stress management coping skills for undergraduate students to achieve academic success.

Lastly, there are insufficient past research studies on the relationship of sleep quality and stress among undergraduate students in Malaysia context. Through the current study, it is able to provide valuable data analysis and result on the relationship of sleep quality and stress among undergraduate students for future researchers in Malaysia. Therefore, it may allow the society to facilitate effective intervention programs for undergraduate students in order to increase their academic success, yet contribute to the development of Malaysia.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

In chapter two, the researchers will discuss the previous literature that studied mainly on the three variables. To be more specific, the researchers will first discuss sleep quality, next stress, then only the associations between sleeping quality, stress, and academic achievements. After that, the researchers will explain about the conceptual framework and theoretical framework. In the literature review part, the researchers chose to study research that ranged within ten years, and some of the studies were most up to date. The purpose of using recent studies is to enhance current research to be useful for other researchers in the future.

2.1 Sleep Quality

Based on Kline (2013) research, sleep quality typically means the subjective perception of a person's sleep. The researcher indicated sleep quality as an individual's satisfaction on his or her sleeping experience with other integrating sleep aspects, which is the sleeping amounts, maintenance of sleep, sleep initiation, and refreshment on waking. Oppositely, Ohayon et al. (2017) study found a contrasting result, in which there are no consistent guidelines on what constitutes a regular or optimal, healthy sleep, and better sleeping quality. However, it managed to find evidence showing the continuous sleeping variables, such as sleep latency, sleep efficiency, awakenings after falling asleep, and the number of waking up more than five minutes were suitable indicators of good sleeping quality. Besides, it declared little or no consensus about sleep architecture or napping associated variables as part of good sleeping quality.

From a study conducted by Lai and Say (2013), it reported 1118 of undergraduates in the Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman (UTAR) were having sleep deprivation problems, as the findings revealed UTAR students slept only around 7.31 hours per night. Besides, the results showed 32.9% of the undergraduates were categorized under bad quality sleepers, and 30.6% of the students suffered from odd daytime sleepiness. Araújo et al. (2013) study further affirmed that undergraduates display bad sleeping quality. A total of 701 students participated in the research, and 54% of them claimed they had bad sleeping quality in the previous month. Also, the study reported only 18.6% of the students managed to sleep more, which is more than seven hours in the previous month. Plus, the significant evidence indicated that, on average, the participants slept only around 6.3 hours each day, and 99% of the students were categorized under the worst range in the sleep efficiency part, and no one fell in the best categories. According to Maheshwari and Shaukat (2019), it stated sufficient sleep and good sleep efficiency is crucial for learning and memory. The results showed most students who had bad sleeping quality scored lower GPA for their exam. In addition, most of the students mentioned they had 16 to 30 minutes of sleep latency, slept for less than five to seven hours and had a 75% to 84% of sleep efficiency. Therefore, Maheshwari and Shaukat (2019) study claimed it is significant for undergraduates to be well-rested so they could achieve better academic performance.

Araújo et al. (2013) study reported an interesting finding, which is that the participants do not have sleep latency issues. In other words, the participants did not face a lot of troubles in initiating sleep and had little hardship in falling asleep within half an hour in the past month. The results showed that only nine percent of the participants, 63 out of 701 of them required a longer time, which is longer than 30 minutes in falling asleep. Besides, it found only 12.7% of the participants encountered difficulty in getting asleep within half an hour for about three times or more occurrence per week. Schlarb et al. (2017) also found that around two-thirds of the undergraduate participants reported having trouble falling asleep and maintaining sleep and encountered despairs due to sleeping problems. Among all of the samples, 51.9% of them informed that they had early awakenings. Moreover, the study found

it was less common for over half of the undergraduates to fulfill all criteria for nightmares, insomnia disorder, and irregular sleep and waking types. However, Lai and Say (2013) research stated poor sleep could be interpreted in terms of the late sleeping time onset, shorter period of total sleeping duration, and longer sleep latency. The researchers were able to prove that poor sleepers will have longer sleep latency and shorter periods of overall sleeping time than people with good sleeping quality.

Asides from the findings mentioned in Araújo et al. (2013) study above, the other results indicated 41.7% of the participants claimed that they encountered no nightmares. However, significant evidence showed the students had terrible dreams at least one time per week in the previous month. Whereas for the difficulty to stay awake, the participants categorized themselves evenly in overall, and only 13.4% of them reported they experienced three or more times in a week. However, the researchers noticed the students faced mild or considerably large amounts of problems in staying enthusiastic during their daily activities. In Schneider et al. (2011) study, it described that undergraduates' sleeping pattern was irregular, in which the university students inconsistently changed their sleeping start time and end time. Plus, their sleep time and awakening time was found earlier on weekdays and later on weekends. Besides, the research also revealed undergraduates tend to sleep less on weekdays than at weekends, and they tend to have sleep deprivation problems while attending classes or during weekdays. Furthermore, a past report conducted by Azad et al. (2015) revealed that undergraduates appear to have insufficient self-consciousness and general knowledge of sleep. The study concluded most of the sleep awareness research conducted in Asia suggested that medical undergraduates typically had misconceptions, and they had little sleep knowledge.

Other than that, Fatima et al. (2016) study revealed a significant gender difference in sleep quality. The results showed females participants reported having a higher prevalence of

bad sleeping quality than the males. In contrast, Lai and Say (2013) study provided results indicating nonsignificant differences in terms of the sleep quality between both males and females participants. The findings revealed the percentage of male participants (87%) who are good sleepers was nearly the same as the female participants (86%). However, the findings of Giri et al. (2013) research were indifferent with Fatima et al. (2016) study and Lai and Say (2013) research. Giri et al. (2013) claimed that females had a better sleeping quality than males. Similarly, Okano et al. (2019) study found males have higher chances to experience bad sleeping quality compared with females.

2.2 Stress

Based on the study by Anuradha et al. (2017) to investigate the relations between stress and stressors among undergraduate students specifically medical students, it was found out that academic stressors are the main contributor towards the increasing stress levels among the students. The example of academic stressors included enormity of the academic courses, absence of recreational activities and the feeling of fear towards poor academic performance. Similarly, the findings of a research conducted by Othman et al. (2013) on 248 students from a public institute in Malaysia revealed that students perceived their stress was often associated with academic requirements. Besides, two significant psychosocial stressors of undergraduate students consist of problems related to family and loneliness. The environmental stressor which highly predicted the stress level among the students is living away from home. However, competition among peers, relationship with partners, high expectations from parents, travel journey between university and house, financial issues, food quality, adjustment with people living in the same room or neighbours and living environment were not significant predictors of stress.

Moreover, Radeef et al. (2014) conducted a study to determine the relationship between the root of stressors and emotional disruption among undergraduate students. A sample of 194 undergraduate students were recruited in this study. The results showed that the components that are associated with the feeling of incapacity, difficulty level of class assignments and absence of inspiration to learn were categorized as the root of stressors.

Additionally, in the study conducted by Talib and Zia-ur-Rehman (2012), three primary sources of stress were identified, which were problems associated with sleep, course subject load and social activities. However, there was no significant difference between the stress level perceived by males and females. This aligns with another past study from Khan and Shamama-Tus-Sabah (2020). The study reported that there is not much difference in perceived stress for students in both genders. Nevertheless, in the recent study conducted by Khan and Shamama-Tus-Sabah (2020) mentioned that female students tend to experience more stress compared to male.

2.3 Sleep Quality and Academic Performance

Rose and Romanan (2018) have conducted a cross-sectional design study to measure the consequences of sleep deprivation on undergraduates' academic performance and the effect of sleep deprivation on their cognitive functioning. A total of 150 healthy college students were recruited, and the findings showed 95.3% of them sleep less than seven to eight hours. The study indicated students who sleep less and those who have sleep deprivation problems were found to have a lower GPA. Hence, Rose and Romanan (2018) further claimed that appropriate sleeping time is essential for students to achieve better results and function better in terms of their cognitive aspects. However, Nihayah et al. (2011) found a different finding, in which sleeping duration was not associated with academic achievements. Similarly, the findings in a recent research conducted by Jalali et al. (2020) provided additional evidence to support Nihayah et al. (2011) results, in which the study found sleeping quality was not significantly associated with the academic achievements among 102 of medical undergraduates from different domains.

Besides, in Frenda and Fenn (2016) study, it mentioned that sleep deprivation would suppress general attention ability and the ability to use mnemonic methods, and it would affect the neural activation in parietal cortices and frontal lobes, areas essential for working memory. Frenda and Fenn (2016) research stated these issues that caused by poor sleep quality may lead to low academic performance among undergraduate students. Diekelmann and Born (2020) further affirmed Frenda and Fenn (2016) study by stating that sleep has been referred to as a condition that enhances the consolidation of newly obtained information in memory. Moreover, cross-sectional research conducted among the fourth year of medical undergraduates in Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM) by Siraj et al. (2014) indicated that sleep deprivation would cause sleepiness on day time and reduced attention level in which later affected undergraduates' academic achievements. A total of 234 students were recruited for the research. The results found most of the undergraduates were sleep-deprived and had inconsistent sleeping time on weekdays and weekdays. After conducting statistical analysis, the findings revealed that adequate sleep is needed to achieve better academic performance as sleep plays a significant role in learning procedure and the consolidation of memory.

Furthermore, Elagra et al. (2016) research had studied the effect of 1160 dental students' sleeping patterns on their academic achievements. Those responded participants were being categorized into two sub-groups based on their academics levels, in which one group comprises students who are not in a clinical year and another group consists of students who are in the clinical year. The findings indicate that sleep quality was found negatively correlated with academic performance in both groups. Besides, the results showed clinical groups had a higher Pearson negative correlation coefficient compared with non-clinical groups. However, the researchers only selected female undergraduates as respondents for their study. They suggested future researchers could recruit both genders in the research and

make comparisons in terms of their sleep quality towards their academic performance. Elagra et al. (2016) revealed that bad sleep quality might influence the undergraduate's attention level, increase their anxiety level, impair their memory and decision-making ability, which all these could further affect the undergraduate's academic achievements. Therefore, this study provides evidence showing poor sleep quality would lead to low academic performance and affect undergraduate's health (Elagra et al., 2016). Similarly, recent findings conducted on 457 of medical undergraduates by El Hangouche et al. (2018) research also claimed that bad sleeping quality is having a significant relationship with low academic performance.

In Mirghani et al. (2015) study, they investigated the relations of sleep quality and academic achievements within medical students. A total of 165 students responded to the survey forms, and the researchers found a significant difference in the sleep quality between the excellent group and the average grade group. After conducting statistical analysis, Mirghani et al. (2015) claimed that good sleeping quality is having a strong relationship with high academic achievements and it found what caused the poor academic results was the lack of concentration and inability to function during the day. Okano et al. (2019) study explored how sleep influences the 88 undergraduate students' academic achievements through objective measurements and tracking their sleep ecologically with the usage of a wearable activity tracker, Fitbit. The results indicated that good sleeping quality, longer sleeping time, and better sleep consistency were strongly correlated with good academic performance. Besides, a study done among 557 psychology undergraduates by Gilbert and Weaver (2011) indicated that the Global Sleep Quality (GSQ) is significantly associated with grade point average (GPA). Moreover, the correlational analysis showed that the Global Sleep Quality (GSQ) is significantly associated with the academic performance of females. However, the study found GSQ was not having a significant association with the male's academic achievements. With all these results, the researchers concluded that the findings were

consistent with the hypothesis in which poor sleeping quality is associated with the undergraduate's lower academic achievements.

Moreover, a meta-analytic review done by Dewald et al. (2010) was to probe the associations of sleepiness, sleeping quality, amounts of sleep, and academic achievements. In the research, the target participants are healthy children and adolescents, which is not similar to our study. However, they were able to find that sleepiness has the biggest effect, then only followed by sleep quality and sleep duration. From the study, they concluded these three factors were having a significant relationship with academic performance but only at a moderate level. The other findings were they found females need more sleep and encounter more daytime sleepiness than males. The study used objective measurement and insomnia questionnaires to measure sleep quality, whereas academic performance was measured by using the students' grade point average, standardized tests, or survey forms. Interestingly, subjective sleep quality measurement showed a stronger association with academic achievements than objective assessment.

2.4 Stress and Academic Performance

Elias et al. (2011) study was conducted with the aim of finding out the associations of level of stress and academic performance among local university students. The study had recruited a sample of 376 undergraduate students through cluster sampling methods. From the study, it was found that generally, undergraduates faced moderate stress, while medical undergraduates encountered the most stress level within others and the first year undergraduates tend to experience lower levels of stress. It can be concluded that academic performance was the major source of stress for the students. A weak and significant relationship found between these two variables. The academic performance was measured by their results of the semester, which is Grade Point Average (GPA), while stress was being evaluated by College Undergraduate Stress Scale (CUSS). This result was aligned with the study conducted by Talib and Zia-ur-Rehman (2012) which aim to investigate the effect of the variable (perceived stress) towards academic performance. In this study, a total of 199 university graduates and undergraduates were involved and a significant negative correlation was found between perceived stress and academic performance. The scales that included in the questionnaire consisted of Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), stress factor survey and GPA.

Additionally, a cross-sectional study that recruited a total of 329 samples of medical students by Melaku et al. (2015), was aimed to measure the stress level of medical undergraduates students with substance use and academic performance. In the results, this study found that stress levels negatively correlated with academic performances, while academics was the major stressor among the students. Besides, a similar study that was conducted by Sohail (2013) showed similar results, where a moderate, significant and negative relationship between academic achievement and stress levels. A sample of 120 medical students responded to the survey questionnaire and 12 students were being interviewed. Both data collections were obtained by a non-probability sampling method.

Moreover, another research done by Gustems-Carnicer et al. (2019) was to investigate the relations of stress levels, coping strategies, and academic performance among undergraduate students specifically students in teacher education courses. A sample of 334 undergraduate students involved in the study. The result showed that students' academic performance became worse with the present of stress. However, the relationship became weaker as the age of the participants increased. The study also found that 51.2% of the sample experienced a remarkable level of stress. Students tend to use avoidance coping strategies such as cognitive avoidance and problem solving methods to cope with stress. Three types of scale were used in the study, which consists of Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), the Coping Responses Inventory-Adult form (CRI-A) and academic achievement was measured by GPA. Nevertheless, there were some past studies that disagreed on the negative correlation between stress and academic performance. A recent study by Khan and Shamama-Tus-Sabah (2020) examined the association between perceived stress levels with academic achievement and positive mental health. A total sample size of 261 undergraduate students were recruited in this study through purposive sampling method. The result found that perceived stress level is positively associated with academic achievement. Another study by Siraj et al. (2020) in Malaysia supported the finding of Khan and Shamama-Tus-Sabah (2020). The cross sectional research was conducted to examine the relations of stress level and academic accomplishments among medical undergraduates specifically year four students. A sample of 179 undergraduate students in Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia responded to the study, the study found out that students who experienced severe and high stress tend to obtain greater results. It was an interesting finding as the result of recent studies contradicted with past studies.

2.5 Relationship between Sleep Quality, Stress and Academic Performance

A study conducted by Ahrberg et al. (2012) reviewed the relations of sleeping quality, stress and academic success. The researchers recruited 943 students to complete a web-based questionnaire, 632 of them took an actual exam and required them to complete a questionnaire at three different timing which is during the semester, during the exam preparation period and eight weeks after the participants finished their exam. At last, 144 of the undergraduates completed for all three-time points. From the study, the result showed that academic success was related with the level of stress and sleeping quality during the exam preparation period. However, the study did not report any significant relations of stress and sleeping quality during the semester and after the exam with academic accomplishments. Furthermore, the result cannot determine the causal relations of sleeping quality, stress and academic success.

Moreover, Taylor et al. (2013) research had studied how sleep plays a role in predicting undergraduates academic achievements. This study had also further discussed the relations of stress and academic achievements. A total of 867 participants that achieved condition from psychology classes were recruited through the research respondent tool from the Department of Psychology. Sleep diary and Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) were used in this study to evaluate sleep quality and stress. The result of the study showed that sleep quality and stress are significant predictors of academic performance.

2.6 Conceptual Framework

A diagram of conceptual framework that illustrates the predictor (Sleep quality and Stress) on the outcome (Academic performance), shown in Figure 2.1. Sleep quality and Stress serve as the independent variables that contribute to the Academic performance which is the dependent variable in this study.

Figure 2.1





2.7 Theoretical Framework

Repair and restoration theory suggests that the function of sleep is to repair and restore the brain and body (Dokie, n.d.). Two theorists have made major theoretical contributions to this general field. Oswald (1980) first contributed to this theory and Horne (1988) was extends Oweald's theory (Dokie, n.d.). Oswald suggests that different types of sleep are required to repair and restore different biological functions. The repair and restoration will happen during Rapid Eye Movement (REM) sleep pattern. Rapid Eye Movement (REM) sleep is necessary for brain development, repair and recognition function. Slow Wave Sleep (SWS) is also necessary for the growth and repair of the body (Dokie, n.d.). It is important for protein synthesis as growth hormone is released during Slow Wave Sleep (SWS) (Dokie, n.d.). Moreover, Horne suggests that sleep is divided into core sleep and optional sleep. Rapid Eye Movement (REM) and Slow Wave Sleep (SWS) is included in core sleep (Dokie, n.d.). He suggests that the repair and restoration of the brain happens during core sleep while the body happens during optional sleep, and can also happen at other times (Dokie, n.d.). By contrast, the differences between Oswald and Horne is Oswald suggests that repair and restoration of brain and body are happening during core sleep which is Rapid Eye Movement (REM) and Slow Wave Sleep (SWS), while Horne suggests that the repair and restoration of the body happen during optional sleep.

William James (1890) has generated Brain plasticity theory which suggests that sleep is correlated to changes in the organization and structure of the brain. According to Ergoflex (2016), this theory means the capability of the brain to adapt and change throughout an individual's life. Brain plasticity suggests that sleep is a process of consolidating new memories from the information that has been acquired. The brain still functions during sleep as it is reviewing and sorting out the activities and information acquired during day time and transforming into long-term memory (Ergoflex, 2016). Hence, the lack of sleep will have a negative effect on the ability to encoding information. For example, this theory explains the reason why infants need to sleep more longer times because they are constantly learning about the world, yet require more deep sleep for the brain to process all of the information and transform it into long-term memory.

Biopsychosocial models of stress (BPS) theory were contributed by Bernald and Krupat (1994), they suggest that stress consists of three elements which is internal part, external part and the interaction between internal part and external part. Cordon (1997) mentioned that the internal component of Biopsychosocial models of stress (BPS) involves a series of neurological and physiological responses to stress, while the external component involves environmental activities that are accompanied by stress recognition and it can evoke responses to stress. Moreover, the third component of Biopsychosocial models of stress (BPS) which is the relationship between internal and external components can be referred to as the relationship between individual and environmental factors, involving the individual's cognitive processes. The way an individual perceives an event plays an important role in evaluating the extent of the stress response, and also the kind of coping mechanisms that a person may use to cope with the stress (Cordon, 1997).

Figure 2.2

Theoretical Framework of the Current Research


Chapter 3

Methodology

3.1 Research Design

The current study utilizes quantitative research design with correlational research design to study the relationship of sleep quality and stress on academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia. This research design allows researchers to use the correlation statistic to measure the degree or relationship between two or more variables or sets of score (Cresswell, 2012). Sleep quality and stress serve as the independent variables that contribute to academic performance which are the dependent variables in this study. A non-probability sampling method which is a convenience sampling method was conducted in this study to collect data from a conveniently available pool of respondents which is undergraduate students in Malaysia. The main objective of the convenience sampling method is to collect data from participants who are easily accessible to researchers (Etikan et al., 2016). It is an affordable and convenient method to collect data (Etikan et al., 2016).

3.2 Research Sample

A total number of 384 respondents were recruited in this study referring to the online sample size calculator. The sample size calculator uses the total amount of population of undergraduates in Malaysia which is obtained from the Macro Higher Education Institution (2019), confidence level of 95%, and confidence interval of 5 to determine the precise sample of this research. The total sample population of undergraduates' students in Malaysia in the year of 2019 is 1,275,052.

3.3 Research Instruments

There were two instruments being used in this study, which were Sleep Quality Scale (SQS) and Perceived Stress Scale (PSS).

3.3.1 Sleep Quality Scale (SQS)

Sleep Quality Scale was developed by Hyeryeon et al. (2006) with the purpose of measuring the overall sleep quality of an individual for one last month. Six main domains of sleep quality will be evaluated in this scale which include sleep satisfaction, difficulty waking, problems initiating and maintaining sleep, restoration after sleep and daytime symptoms. SQS is a self-reported scale that consists of 28 items that are rated on a four point Likert scale ranging from 0 (*never or rarely*) to 3 (*almost always*). Items related to satisfaction with sleep and restoration after sleep will be reversed-coded prior before calculating the total scores, which are obtained by summing up every item. The range of the total scores are from 0 to 84, with higher scores indicating more severe sleep problems. Past study reported the Cronbach α of .92, a test-retest reliability correlation coefficient of .81 and a strong correlation was found with the result of Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) (Buysse et al., 1989) which is a validated measure that is widely used in measuring sleep quality (Hyeryeon et al., 2006).

3.3.2 Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)

Perceived Stress Scale was developed by Cohen (1983) with the aim of measuring the stress level of an individual generally for the past one month. PSS is a self-reported scale that comprises 10 items that are rated on a five-Likert scale ranging from 0 (*never*) to 4 (*very often*). The total scores are obtained by reversing the score for item 4, 5, 7 and 8 prior before summing up all the items. The total score ranges between 0 and 40 with higher score (27 to 40) reflecting higher perceived stress. High Cronbach α of .84 (males and females sample), .85 (college student samples) and .86 (smoking-cessation sample) was reported in the study itself. A high test-retest reliability correlation coefficient of .85 was found in the college student samples, it showed the scale has good reliability (Cohen, 1983). Meanwhile,

in recent study, a Cronbach α of >.70 was reported in 12 studies, and a test-retest reliability of >.70 was found in four studies that are included in the psychometric test (Lee, 2012).

3.4 Research Procedure

At first, the researchers applied for ethical clearance to conduct research from the UTAR Scientific and Ethical Research Committee. After a few days, the researchers successfully received the approval letter with the reference number of U/SERC/04/2021. The application aimed to request authorization from the university to conduct research on its premises. In the research proposal, the researchers yielded a topic of the associations between sleep quality, stress, and academic achievements among undergraduate students in Malaysia. However, to further probe the topic, the researchers have developed several research questions and research objectives. In addition, this research has incorporated the variables of sleep quality, stress, and academic performance.

After generating a proposal for the research, the researchers quickly designed a research poster with a survey link and distributed it online. The researchers chosen to distribute the survey online was due to easy accessibility, lower costs faced, and higher convenience. However, before starting circulating the research poster, the researchers created the online questionnaire through Qualtrics. Next, to be more efficient, the researchers aimed to distribute the survey and hit the target sample size within four weeks. To achieve this goal, the researchers had direct messaging the survey form to a person or a group on WhatsApp, Facebook, Instagram, or WeChat, starting from 23 January 2021. Surprisingly, the response rate was very optimum.

Moreover, the respondents were required to tick the box to indicate agreement as an implied consent in the survey form. Other than the participants' informed consent, the questionnaire consisted of the participants' demographic information, Sleep Quality Scale (SQS), Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), and also their Cumulative Grade Point Average

(CGPA). After the researchers completed the data collection, the researchers filtered the responses and excluded those responses from participants who are not currently undertaking undergraduate programs in Malaysia. Later, the researchers utilized the instruments mentioned above to measure all the variables and further analyzed the data and findings.

3.5 Pilot Study

A pilot study is a trial test in checking the feasibility of the actual research (In, 2017). According to In (2017), pilot study serves as a tool to enhance the planning and the modification of the actual research. Another benefit of conducting a trial study is it can surpass the actual study to check on its validity. Besides, the pilot test allows the researchers to revise the steps and procedures of the real research. After doing the pilot test, the researchers can better understand the participants' recruitment criteria. Later, the researchers could familiarize themselves with analyzing the instruments used in the actual research (In, 2017). Besides, the researchers can briefly know the time spent of participants while filling up the questionnaire. Moreover, the researchers could evaluate whether they will face any financial problems during the actual research (Thabane et al., 2010). Additionally, through the pilot study, the researchers could learn and minimize the possible errors, smoothen the actual research process and handle well on the resources and management in the real research.

Therefore, the current researchers have conducted a pilot test to analyze the feasibility of the actual study. In the pilot test, in order to ensure the online survey form is accurate and error-free, the researchers read through the online survey at least once before starting to circulate it. While collecting the data, the researchers slowly got ideas on the recruitment criteria for the actual study. For the respondents of the pilot test, the researchers had recruited 30 undergraduates from universities in Malaysia. On average, each of the participants spent around 5 minutes to complete the online survey form. Next, the researcher conducted the data analysis according to table 1 after collecting the responses from 30 participants. By practicing the data analysis steps, it allows the researchers to be extra familiarized with the procedure. Throughout the pilot study, all the researchers had clearly understood how to conduct the actual research.

As for the result, the researchers have tested the reliableness and validity of the Sleep Quality Scale (SQS) and Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) during the pilot test. For the reliability of the SQS, it has an internal coefficient value of .805, which indicated a notably great level of reliability. Similarly, Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) has an appropriate level of reliability, in which it has an internal consistency value of .779. Therefore, to conclude, both scales are reliable to be used in the recent samples. Next, for validity, both inventories have the same values of .320. That value indicated that both instruments showed a good construct validity. Hence, it means both scales, testing the theory they are gauging on, indeed (Ginty, 2013) in the current sample size.

3.6 Data Analysis Plan

Three different statistical tests were used to test out the hypotheses in this study as illustrated in Table 3.1. Pearson Product Moment Correlation (PPMC) is used for testing hypothesis one and two as PPMC is widely used to measure the strength of the relationship between two variables. On the other hand, PPMC also used to test the relationship between sleep quality with academic performance by gender (hypothesis three) and the relationship between stress with academic performance by gender (hypothesis four) by splitting the data by gender before conducting the analysis. Last but not least, Multiple Linear Regression (MLR) was conducted to test out hypothesis five, which is to analyse the relationship between two dependent variables (sleep quality and stress) and one independent variable (academic performance). All statistical tests conducted using International Business Machines Corporation; Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (IBM SPSS).

Table 3.1

Statistical Test Used for Hypothesis Testing

Hypotheses	Statistical Test
H1: There is a significant relationship between sleep quality with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia	Pearson Product Moment Correlation
H2: There is a significant relationship between stress with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia.	Pearson Product Moment Correlation
H3: There is a difference in sleep quality with academic performance by gender among undergraduate students in Malaysia.	Pearson Product Moment Correlation
H4: There is a difference in stress with academic performance by gender among undergraduate students in Malaysia.	Pearson Product Moment Correlation
H5: There is a significant relationship between sleep quality and stress with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia.	Multiple Linear Regression

Chapter 4

Result

Chapter 4 includes data analysis of 384 respondents of the current study on the five hypotheses proposed. Data screening and outlier checking was conducted before proceeding with the analysis. Demographic information of the participants was included, Pearson Product Moment Correlation (PPMC) was used to test hypothesis one, two, three and four, Multiple Linear Regression (MLR) was used to test hypothesis five.

4.1 Missing Data and Outlier Check

The total number of 400 participants were recruited in this study through a random sampling method through Qualtrics. Among them, six participants (1.5%) were removed due to incomplete response, 10 participants (2.5%) were removed as they didn't meet the requirement of the current study, which is Malaysian undergraduate (six of them are from foundation and four of them are from A-level). Boxplots was conducted to identify outliers of the current study, and no responses were excluded as all the responses fall into the range of boxplots, refer Appendix C and Appendix D.

4.2 Descriptive Statistics

Table 4.1

Variables	Frequency	Percent (%)	
Age (years)			
Mean	22.03	_	
Standard deviation	1.634	_	
Minimum	18		
Maximum	32	_	
18 - 21	116	30.20	
22 - 25	259	67.50	
26 - 29	5	1.30	

Demographic Profile of the Respondents

\geq 30	4	1.00
Gender		
Male	108	28.10
Female	276	71.90
Ethnicity		
Chinese	356	92.70
Malay	13	3.40
Indian	5	1.30
Others	10	2.60
CGPA		
2.0000 - 2.9999	69	18.00
3.0000 - 3.6699	204	52.90
3.6700 - 4.0000	111	29.10

Note. N = 384.

Table 4.1 showed the participants' demographic profile of current study. After data screening and removing, a total of 384 participants were included in the data analyses of the current study. Among them, 28.1% (n=108) were male and 71.9% (n=276) were female. The participants' age ranged from 18 to 32 years old where 67.50% (n=259) of them were aged 22 to 25 years old, and majority of them were Chinese (92.7%; n=356). Most of the participants scored good (52.90%; CGPA: 3.0000 – 3.6699) in their academic performance, followed by excellent (29.10%; CGPA: 3.6700 – 4.0000) and satisfactory (18.00%; CGPA: 2.0000 – 2.9999).

4.3 Pearson Product Moment Correlation

Table 4.2

Pearson Correlation for Sleep Quality and Academic Performance

H1: There is a significant relationship between sleep quality with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia.

Variable	1	2
1. Sleep Quality	-	
2. Academic Performance	166**	-

Note. **. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Table 4.2 showed that Sleep Quality and Academic Performance were found to have a significant, negligible and negative correlation, r(382) = -.166, p < .001. This result supported hypothesis 1 of current study.

Table 4.3

Pearson Correlation for Stress and Academic Performance

H2: There is a significant relationship between stress with academic performance among

undergraduate students in Malaysia

Variable	1	2
1. Stress	-	
2. Academic Performance	096	-

Note. p = .060.

Based on Table 3, Stress and Academic Performance were found to have a not significant, negligible and negative correlation, r(382) = -.096, p = .060. Null hypothesis 2 was accepted while alternate hypothesis 2 was rejected.

Table 4.4

Pearson Correlation for Sleep Quality and Academic Performance by Gender

H3: There is a difference in sleep quality with academic performance by gender among undergraduate students in Malaysia

Variable	1	2
1. Sleep Quality	-	.024
2. Academic Performance	225**	-

Note. **. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed), p = .804 for male. The results for the male sample (n=108) are shown above the diagonal. The results for the female sample (n=276) are shown below the diagonal.

Table 4.4 showed that among males, the Sleep Quality and Academic Performance were positively correlated, with a not significance and negligible correlation, r(382) = .024, p = .804; while for females, both variables were negatively correlated, with a significant and weak correlation, r(382) = -.225, p < .001. Hypothesis 3 of the current study is partially supported.

Table 4.5

Pearson Correlation for Stress and Academic Performance by Gender

H4: There is a difference in stress with academic performance by gender among

undergraduate students in Malaysia

Variable	1	2
1. Stress	-	095
2. Academic Performance	128*	-

Note. *. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed), p = .329 for male. The results for the male sample (n=108) are shown above the diagonal. The results for the female sample (n=276) are shown below the diagonal.

Lastly, Table 4.5 showed that among males, Stress and Academic Performance were found to have a not significant, negligible and negative correlation, r(382) = -.095, p = .329; while for females, Stress and Academic Performance were found to have a significant, negligible and negative correlation, r(382) = -.128, p < .05. This results partially supported hypothesis 4 of the current study.

4.4 Multiple Regression Analysis

Table 4.6

Summary of ANOVA

Source	SS	df	MS	F	р
Regression	1.715	2	.857	5.503	.004 ^b
Residual	59.362	381	.156		
Total	61.077	383			

Note. a. Dependent Variable: Academic Performance, b. Predictors: (Constant), Stress, Sleep Quality; ANOVA = analysis of variance; SS = sum of squares; df = degrees of freedom; MS = mean square; F = fisher's F ratio.

Table 4.7

Regression Analysis Summary for Stress and Sleep Quality Predicting Academic

Performance

H5: There is a significant relationship between sleep quality and stress with academic

performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia

Source	Unstar	Unstandardized			
	coef	ficients	coefficients		
	В	Std. error	β	t	р
(Constant)	3.598	.090		40.118	.000
Stress	002	.004	027	483	.629
Sleep Quality	005	.002	154	-2.717	.007

Note. Adjusted $R^2 = .023$.

Multiple regression analysis was used to test if stress and sleep quality significantly predicted undergraduates' academic performance. The model was statistically significant, F(2, 381) = 5.503, p < .004 and accounted for 2.3% of the variance. It was found that sleep quality, but not stress, significantly predicted undergraduates' academic performance ($\beta = -.154$, p < .007). This result partially supported the fifth hypothesis of the current study.

4.5 Conclusion

In the nutshell, for this current study, hypothesis one was accepted, hypothesis three, four and five were partially accepted, however there was no support for hypothesis two. Further discussion will be included in the following chapter.

Chapter 5

Discussion and Conclusion

This chapter will be discussed on the answer to current study's research questions of (1) determining the relationship between sleep quality and academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia, (2) determining the relationship between stress and academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia, (3) determining the effect of gender in the relationship between sleep quality with academic performance and stress with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia, (4) determining whether sleep quality or stress will significantly correlated with academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia, in the justification of the current study's discussion. Moreover, both theoretical and practical implications of the current study, recommendations for future study were also included in this chapter.

5.1 Discussion

For the first hypothesis, the research supported it in which sleep quality was significantly correlated with academic achievements negatively. This finding means that the undergraduates who scored higher on the Sleep Quality Scale (SQS) encountered more severe sleeping problems and caused bad sleeping quality. Consequently, those sleeping problems caused the undergraduates to achieve lower academic scores. This research findings were in line with previous works (Ahrberg et al., 2012; Elagra et al., 2016; El Hangouche et al., 2018).

For instance, Seun-Fadipe and Mosaku (2017) showed that undergraduates who sleep poorly tend to score lower significantly than those who sleep better. The study stated that sleep quality could independently predict academic achievements. Moreover, Elias et al. (2011) study claimed that sufficient sleep is demanding to underpin the brain plasticity procedures in consolidating the memories. Besides, according to Rasch and Born (2013) research, it revealed that the memory consolidation process would activate during sleep, and good sleep quality could escalate the quality of the reorganization process and later integrate it into long-term memory. Nonetheless, Scott et al. (2019) study affirmed Elias et al. (2011) and Rasch and Born (2013) research, indicating that sleeping quality acts as a critical element in the memory restoration process and not to mention academic achievements. Thus, the researchers agreed that inadequate sleep would affect the learning journey and the info memorizing process.

Besides, research from Alqudah et al. (2019) identified undergraduates who see themselves as poor sleepers prone to experience insomnia issues. Unsurprisingly, the other findings reported undergraduates who scored a CGPA lower than 2.5 were more susceptible to encounter more insomnia problems than students who scored 3.0 or greater than that. Upon the results, Alqudah et al. (2019) exploration concluded that sleep quality significantly correlated with academic achievements. Additionally, an interview session conducted by Datta et al. (2018) study also affirmed the results in this research. By referring to the findings, 57% of the undergraduates suffered from sleep disturbances. 66.3% of the interviewees who scored averagely in their last semester examination found to be troubled by their sleeping disturbance. Asides from that, Datta et al. (2018) research revealed 72.4% of the students who reported sleepiness during the day experienced more struggles significantly during the test than that 51.7% of students who claimed to be non-sleepy.

What is more, the current research rejected the second hypothesis. This shows that there was no significant relationship between stress and academic performance. Surprisingly, this finding was not aligned with some of the past literature (Elias et al., 2011; Oketch-Oboth & Okunya, 2018; Lin et al., 2020). However, Farhan and Khan (2015) result aligned with the present research. The study acknowledged that the stress was not significantly correlated with academic performance.

Based on Farhan and Khan (2015) findings, it explained that the undergraduates would experience a lot of academic workload and confusion at the beginning. However, they will slowly be familiarized with the course when more and more works coming in. As time passes by, the undergraduates will get used to it and have comparable lesser stress than the beginning. Later, they will have reduced perceived stress when they went through the middle semester and moved ahead to the end of the semester. After that, they would only need to worry about their final assessments since they have completed all of their assignments (Farhan & Khan, 2015). Thus, the researchers explained that students perceived stress very differently during different weeks. Nonetheless, the last statement above is aligned with Pitt (2017) research. However, the opinions were dissimilar to Farhan and Khan (2015) research. The study described that the students faced higher stress when they moved to the middle and the end of the semester. Besides, the researchers claimed that these two periods were more stressful where assignment submission deadlines and final assessments were just close. Provided the researchers recruited respondents from different tertiary institutions. Therefore, the inconsistency of the timing they enrolled for their current semester might cause them to feel different stress levels. Hence, this might explain the fact why students faced different stress levels and resulting insignificant results for this hypothesis.

Other than that, Ganesan et al. (2018) research reported that coping techniques were significantly related to stress inversely. In other words, students who feel lesser stress tend to acquire better-coping techniques to handle their stress. In addition, according to Solomon (2013) study, stress negatively corresponded with resilience. On top of that, the researchers identified high resiliency linked with high academic achievements. Therefore, the current researchers make a possible interpretation by linking all these three variables together. The prediction was that most of the respondents might opt for adaptive coping techniques while handling their stress. With more practices of adaptive coping methods, they might get to build

a higher resilience since they were able to adapt to the stressful environment. Hence, they might not feel that stress is a massive issue for them. Consequently, the adaptive coping methods and high resiliency might just further lead the respondents to feel that their stress is not a burden for them. Thus, they would observe stress as having a nonsignificant connection with their academic performance.

Next, regarding the third hypothesis, the research supported it in which there was a significant relationship between sleep quality by gender with their academic achievements. Although the findings of the current research were the opposite of Lai and Say (2013) study, there was still literature that came across similar finds with this research (Toscano-Hermoso et al., 2020; Salmani et al., 2020).

In the work of Toscano-Hermoso et al. (2020), the researchers indicated that women presented a higher risk in reporting their poor sleep quality than men significantly. Other than that, Salmani et al. (2020) study also confirmed that women facing poor sleep quality, such as having sleeping disorders, and this affecting their academic performances significantly. Conversely, an interesting study from Leak (2020) revealed that gender was not significantly affecting the numbers of waking, sleep latency, and sleep duration. However, they found women faced more sleeping disturbances on weekends. They predicted that women might not gain as much as the men benefit from the recovery sleep during the weekends. In other words, the researchers suggested that men slept more during weekends and to recover from there. Thus, this might explain why sleep would not significantly influence men undergraduates on academic performance.

Nevertheless, the current research supported the fourth hypothesis, in which there was a significant relationship between stress by gender with their academic performance. The findings were in agreement with Mehfooz and Haider (2017). Next, based on Verma et al. (2011) study, it revealed that males and females respond to stress distinctly in terms of a biological and psychological perspective. However, the neurobiologists claimed that the biological relationship was still under the exploration stage. Besides, Bamuhair et al. (2015) research reported that females utilized coping strategies more significantly than men. Through the findings, women applied positive coping techniques and negative coping methods as well. Next, a past study by Monteiro et al. (2014) revealed female undergraduates were more likely to engage in wishful thinking and disemploy problem-focused strategies more than male undergraduates. Likewise, Anbumalar et al. (2017) study identified that different gender adopts various kinds of stress coping techniques differently and significantly. For females, they were more inclined to utilize spiritual practice to handle their stress. Whereas males, they were more prone to adopt active stress coping techniques more in dealing with their stress. Plus, the results revealed that perceived stress was significantly associated with coping methods. Thus, the current researchers suggested the female participants might use ineffective ways to get through the stress. Hence, this condition might lead them to perceive stress as significant in influencing their academic performance.

Last but not least, the current research rejected the fifth hypothesis. Based on the results, it only revealed that sleep quality was significantly related to academic performance. Unfortunately, the researchers were unable to discover the significant associations between stress and also academic achievements. According to Ahrberg et al. (2012) study, it explored similar variables as the current research. However, it could not detect the causal associations among sleeping quality, stress, and academic achievements. Contrastingly, Taylor et al. (2013) paper reported the same findings as to the current research. Taylor et al. (2013) disclosed that sleeping quality significantly tied with academic achievements with minimal effect only. However, they found Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) loses its significant effect after comprising all the possible predictors. Besides, a study ran by Scott et al. (2019) explained that the undergraduates might have significantly faced stress. The stress level

might bring a negative effect on their sleep quality and further affect their academic performance. Thus, the researchers believed the indirect influence of stress on the undergraduates' sleeping quality caused them to feel sleep quality significantly influencing their academic achievements rather than the stress.

5.2 Implications of the Study

5.2.1 Theoretical Implication

The findings of this current study could serve as a reference for undergraduate students in Malaysia to have a better understanding on what is the variable that might affect their academic performance. The current study presented that it was not stress, but sleep quality has a significant and negative correlation with their academic performance. This contributed to the research gap as there were limited past studies examining sleep quality and stress, which variables significantly contribute towards academic performance.

Past studies showed inconsistent results for the association between sleep quality and academic performance, the researchers argued on the correlation between these two variables and caused confusions for the community. Thus, the current study aims to figure out the answer for the correlations between these two variables. The results of the current study filled in the research gap mentioned above, which indicated the negative correlation among these two variables. Other contributions of the current study, which is towards the relationship among sleep quality and stress by gender towards academic performance. The results also indicated that gender differences did play a significant role in the relationship of these variables.

5.2.2 Practical Implication

The current study revealed that it was sleep quality, but not stress significantly correlated with undergraduate students' academic performance. A past study by Voinescu and Szentagotai-Tatar (2015) showed that sleep hygiene played a significant role in

maintaining satisfactory sleep, and the awareness of sleep hygiene was significantly worse among young adults. Therefore, a sleep hygiene awareness campaign could be organized by university from time to time to highlight the importance of sleep hygiene towards satisfactory sleep and academic performance. Meanwhile, it is also suggested to organize sleep hygiene workshops to further explain how to practice sleep hygiene to have better sleep quality, thus increasing their academic performance.

Moreover, the current study also created self-awareness and self-reflections among the undergraduate students in Malaysia while they are filling in the survey. By realizing their current sleep quality, it might raise their awareness and thus lead to behaviour change to have a better sleep quality, as all behaviour change starts with an awareness and the intention to change.

5.3 Limitations

There may be some possible limitations in this study. One of the limitations include the difference in open book test and closed book test. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the government of Malaysia had issued the Movement Control Order (MCO) that takes effect from 18th March 2020 in order to increase the social distance and delay the spread of the Coronavirus. The Education Ministry had implemented online learning as all of the education institutions remained closed during Covid-19 pandemic. All of the universities implement final assessment and online examination which is open book test as the substitute of physical examination which is closed book test. According to Goothy et al. (2019), the results show that the stress levels were significantly higher in closed book tests compared to open book tests. It can be concluded as students will perceive lower stress levels in open book tests and more higher stress levels in closed book tests. Therefore, it might influence the accuracy of the current research's results compared to past research. Moreover, the next limitation of current study is measurement which is the selfreported questionnaires. It means all of the participants need to answer the questionnaire solely by themselves. When answering the questionnaires, participants may also have difficulties to recall their actual perceptions and behaviours. Regarding the limitations of selfreported questionnaires, it could be argued that the significance of CGPA is entirely dependent on the honesty of the undergraduate student (Elagra et al., 2016). However, the possibility of undergraduate students to be dishonest may be impossible since they are voluntary and anonymous to engage in this study.

Another possible limitation is the target participants of current research is the CGPA might also get influenced by the participants that come from different Universities. According to the Public Services Commission of Malaysia (n.d), the calculations of CGPA for each university in Malaysia may differ from one another. Furthermore, undergraduate students from different universities might have a big difference in sleep quality and stress level. For example, some studies have shown that medical students perceived more stress and low sleep quality compared to other university students (Sohail, 2013; Abdulghani et al., 2014; Azad et al., 2015; Melaku et al., 2015; Mirghani et al., 2015; Anuradha et al., 2017; El Hangouche et al., 2018; Maheshwari & Shaukat, 2019; Jalali et al., 2020; Siraj et al., 2020). Therefore, it might influence the accuracy of the result of the current study since the participants come from different universities in Malaysia.

On the other hand, the possible limitation of this study is the number of females in the sample was higher than the male. The big difference in gender ratio might influence the result as the current study has discussed the gender difference between sleep quality and stress with academic performance.

5.4 Recommendations

There are some suggestions to improve in the future study. First of all, the researchers may conduct the research when the undergraduate students are conducting a physical exam which is closed book tests. Researchers are able to figure out the difference between closed book tests and open book tests and compare it with the present study. Therefore, it might increase the accuracy of the results.

Moreover, the researchers could improve the accuracy of self-reports through survey design by asking the participants to estimate their behaviour in a specific period. For example, the researchers could ask the participants to estimate their stress level and sleep quality during the exam preparation period when answering the questionnaire. Furthermore, the researchers can start the data collection during the exam preparation week of undergraduate students in order to gain more accurate data.

Moreover, the next recommendation suggested to improve in the future study is the researchers could consider conducting the study on some specific universities. It may further increase the accuracy of the data collection of the sleep quality, stress and academic performance among the undergraduate students among the same university. This is because there is a high possibility that most of the undergraduate students that are from the same university might have more similar sleep quality and stress. Therefore, it can avoid the bias of the difference in difficulty of the degree courses and be able to obtain reliable and accurate results.

The researchers could pay attention to the gender ratio of the participants when conducting research that is studying gender differences. The imbalanced ratio of gender might impact the accuracy of the result. In future study, researchers could collect a more balanced gender ratio when studying research of gender differences in order to obtain more accurate results.

5.5 Conclusion

The current study aims to investigate the relationship between sleep quality and stress on academic performance followed by gender differences among undergraduate students in Malaysia. The findings revealed that sleep quality was significantly correlated with academic performance negatively. Moreover, there was no significant relationship between stress and academic performance. Furthermore, there was a significant relationship between sleep quality and stress by gender with their academic performance. Lastly, the current study cannot determine the causal relationships among sleep quality, stress and academic performance. Hence, the current study contributed findings to serve as a reference for undergraduate students to understand the possible factors which could affect their academic performance. Therefore, undergraduate students can adopt effective intervention in order to increase their academic performance.

References

- Abdulghani, H. M., Al-Drees, A. A., Khalil, M. S., Ahmad, F., Ponnamperuma, G. G., & Amin, Z. (2014). What factors determine academic achievement in high achieving undergraduate medical students? A qualitative study. *Medical Teacher*, *36*(sup1), S43–S48. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159x.2014.886011
- Adams, R. E., Ritter, C., & Bonfine, N. (2015). Epidemiology of trauma: Childhood adversities, neighborhood problems, discrimination, chronic strains, life events, and daily hassles among people with a severe mental illness. *Psychiatry Research*, 230(2), 609–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2015.10.012
- Ahmed, A. L., Yusof, Z. M., Misiran, M. & Mahmuddin, M. (2019). Stress determinants among university students in Universiti Utara Malaysia. *Asian People Journal*, 2(2), 9–17. https://journal.unisza.edu.my/apj/index.php/apj/article/view/104
- Ahrberg, K., Dresler, M., Niedermaier, S., Steiger, A., & Genzel, L. (2012). The interaction between sleep quality and academic performance. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 46(12), 1618–1622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.09.008
- Alqudah, M., Balousha, S. A. M., Al-Shboul, O., Al-Dwairi, A., Alfaqih, M. A., & Alzoubi,
 K. H. (2019). Insomnia among medical and paramedical students in Jordan: Impact on academic performance. *BioMed Research International*, 2019, 1–8.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/7136906
- Anbumalar, C., Dorathy Agines, P., Jaswanti, V. P., Priya, D., & Reniangelin, D. (2017).
 Gender differences in perceived stress levels and coping strategies among college students. *The International Journal of Indian Psychology*, 4(4), 22–33.
 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/323995368_Gender_Differences_in_Perceiv ed_Stress_levels_and_Coping_Strategies_among_College_Students

Anuradha, R., Dutta, R., Raja, J. D., Sivaprakasam, P., & Patil, A. B. (2017). Stress and stressors among medical undergraduate students: A cross-sectional study in a private medical college in Tamil Nadu. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*, 42(4), 222– 225. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijcm.IJCM_287_16

Araújo, M. F. M. de, Lima, A. C. S., Alencar, A. M. P. G., Araújo, T. M. de, Fragoso, L. V. C., & Damasceno, m. M. C. Sleep quality assessment of university students from Fortaleza-CE. *Text & Context - Nursing*, 22(2), 352–360.
https://doi.org/10.1590/S0104-07072013000200011

- Azad, M. C., Fraser, K., Rumana, N., Abdullah, A. F., Shahana, N., Hanly, P. J., & Turin, T.
 C. (2015). Sleep disturbances among medical students: A global perspective. *Journal* of *Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *11*(01), 69–74. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.4370
- Bamuhair, S. S., Farhan, A. I. A., Althubaiti, A., Agha, S., Rahman, S. U., & Ibrahim, N. O. (2015). Sources of stress and coping strategies among undergraduate medical students enrolled in a problem-based learning curriculum. *Journal of Biomedical Education*, 2015, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/575139
- Berkowsky, R. W. (2014). Stress across the life course. *The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of Health, Illness, Behavior, and Society*, 1–4.

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/9781118410868.wbehibs534

- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Research*, 28(2), 193–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Cabalo Jr, F. B., Lorenzo, C. A., Perez Jr, A. G., Arciaga, K. C., Igano, J. A., Rona, R. S., & Tipsay, J. C. (2017). Relationship between quality of sleep and grade point average in physics among grade 12 stem students in golden acres campus for academic year

2017-2018: A correlational study. Academia, 1–18.

https://www.academia.edu/34793921/Relationship_between_Quality_of_Sleep_and_ Grade_Point_Average_in_Physics_among_Grade_12_STEM_Students_in_Golden_A cres_Campus_for_Academic_Year_2017_2018_A_Correlational_Study

- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24(4), 385–396. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404
- Cordon, I. M. (1997). Stress. http://www.csun.edu/~vcpsy00h/students/stress.htm
- Creative Research Systems. (n.d.) Sample size calculator. Retrieved November 8, 2020, from https://www.surveysystem.com/sscalc.htm#one

Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Pearson. https://www.scirp.org/(S(351jmbntvnsjt1aadkposzje))/reference/ReferencesPapers.asp x?ReferenceID=757162

- Datta, A., Nag, K., Karmakar, N., Chakraborty, T., Tripura, K., & Bhattacharjee, P. (2019).
 Sleep disturbance and its effect on academic performance among students of a medical college of Tripura. *International Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health*, 6(1), 293–298. https://doi.org/10.18203/2394-6040.ijcmph20185261
- Dewald, J. F., Meijer, A. M., Oort, F. J., Kerkhof, G. A., & Bögels, S. M. (2010). The influence of sleep quality, sleep duration and sleepiness on school performance in children and adolescents: A meta-analytic review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 14(3), 179–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2009.10.004
- Diekelmann, S., & Born, J. (2020). The memory function of sleep. *Nature Review Neuroscience*, *11*, 114–126. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2762

- Dokie, N. (n.d.). Restoration theories of sleep the restoration theory of sleep. Academia. Retrieved November 21, 2020, from https://www.academia.edu/35855937/Restoration_Theories_of_Sleep_The_Restoratio n_Theory_of_Sleep
- El Hangouche, A. J., Jniene, A., Aboudrar, S., Errguig, L., Rkain, H., Cherti, M., & Dakka, T. (2018). Relationship between poor quality sleep, excessive daytime sleepiness and low academic performance in medical students. *Advances in Medical Education and Practice*, *9*, 631–638. https://doi.org/10.2147/amep.s162350
- Elagra, M. I., Rayyan, M. R., Alnemer, O. A., Alshehri, M. S., Alsaffar, N. S., Al-Habib, R.
 S., & Almosajen, Z. A. (2016). Sleep quality among dental students and its association with academic performance. *Journal of International Society of Preventive and Community Dentistry*, 6(4), 296–301.
 https://doi.org/10.4103%2F2231-0762.186788
- Elias, H., Wong, S. P., & Abdullah, M. C. (2011). Stress and academic achievement among undergraduate students in Universiti Putra Malaysia. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 29, 646–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.11.288
- Elias, H., Wong, S. P., & Abdullah, M. P. (2011). Stress and academic achievement among undergraduate students in Universiti Putra Malaysia. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 29, 646–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.11.288
- Ergoflex (2016, November 17). Four theories as to why we need to sleep. https://www.ergoflex.com.au/blog/category/ergo-flex-news/four-theories-as-to-why-we-need-to-sleep-
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11

Farhan, S., & Khan, I. (2015). Impact of stress, self-esteem and gender factor on students' academic achievement. *International Journal on New Trends in Education and Their Implications*, 6(2), 154–167. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/IMPACT-OF-STRESS%2C-SELF-ESTEEM-AND-GENDER-FACTOR-ON-FARHAN/baad8c07caa9dd912e9c414dbf29ca9cb0e49276

Fatima, Y., Doi, S. A. R., Najman, J. M., & Mamun, A. A. (2016). Exploring gender difference in sleep quality of young adults: Findings from a large population study. *Clinical Medicine & Research*, 14(3–4), 138–144. https://doi.org/10.3121/cmr.2016.1338

- Frenda, S. J., & Fenn, K. M. (2016). Sleep less, think worse: The effect of sleep deprivation on working memory. *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, 5(4), 463–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmac.2016.10.001
- Galea, J.T., Ramos, K., Coit, J., Friedman, L. E., Contreras, C., Dueñas, M., Hernandez, N., Muster, C., Lecca, L., & Gelaye, B. (2020). The use of wearable technology to objectively measure sleep quality and physical activity among pregnant women in Urban Lima, Peru: A pilot feasibility study. *Maternal and Child Health Journal, 24*, 823–828. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-020-02931-5
- Ganesan, Y., Talwar, P., Norsiah Fauzan, & Oon, Y. B. (2018). A study on stress level and coping strategies among undergraduate students. *Journal of Cognitive Sciences and Human Development.* 3(2), 37–47. https://doi.org/10.33736/jcshd.787.2018
- Gilbert, S. P., & Weaver, C. C. (2010). Sleep quality and academic performance in university students: A wake-up call for college psychologists. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy*, 24(4), 295–306. https://doi.org/10.1080/87568225.2010.509245
- Goothy, S. S. K., Suphal, S., Bandaru, T. S., Movva, S., Manyam, R., & Raju A, V. R. (2019). Comparison of academic performance and stress levels in open book test and

closed book test and perceptions of undergraduate dental students. *MOJ Anatomy & Physiology*, 6(2), 57–59. https://doi.org/10.15406/mojap.2019.06.00246

- Gustems-Carnicer, J., Calderón, C., & Calderón-Garrido, D. (2019). Stress, coping strategies and academic achievement in teacher education students. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(3), 375–390. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2019.1576629
- Ibrahim, A. K., Kelly, S. J., Adams, C. E., & Glazebrook, C. (2013). A systematic review of studies of depression prevalence in university students. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 47(3), 391–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.11.015
- IGI Global. (n.d.). Academic performance. In *Igi-Global.com dictionary*. Retrieved November 5, 2020, from https://www.igi-global.com/dictionary/the-relationshipbetween-individual-student-attributes-and-online-course-completion/42383
- In, J. (2017). Introduction of a pilot study. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, 70(6), 601–605. https://doi.org/10.4097/kjae.2017.70.6.601
- Irby-Shasanmi, A., & Redmond, D. L. (2014). Stressful life events. *The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of Health, Illness, Behavior, and Society*, 2376–2381. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118410868.wbehibs370
- Jalali, R., Khazaei, H., Paveh, B. K., Hayrani, Z., & Menati, L. (2020). The effect of sleep quality on students' academic achievement. *Advances in Medical Education and Practice*, 11, 497–502. https://doi.org/10.2147/AMEP.S261525
- Khan, S., & Shamama-Tus-Sabah, S. (2020). Perceived stress and its association with positive mental health and academic performance of university students. *Pakistan Armed Forces Medical Journal*, 70(5), 1391–1395.
 https://pafmj.org/index.php/PAFMJ/article/view/5571
- Kline, C. (2013). Sleep quality. *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine*, 1811–1813. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9_849

Kumar, S., & Bhukar, J. P. (2013). Stress level and coping strategies of college students.
 Journal of Physical Education and Sports Management, 4(1), Article 4F29D521904.
 https://academicjournals.org/journal/JPESM/article-abstract/4F29D521904

Lai, P. P., & Say, Y. -H. (2013). Associated factors of sleep quality and behavior among students of two tertiary institutions in northern Malaysia. *The Medical Journal of Malaysia*, 68(3), 195–203.
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/237084744_Associated_Factors_of_Sleep_

Quality_and_Behavior_among_Students_of_Two_Tertiary_Institutions_in_Northern_ Malaysia

- Landry, G. J., Best, J. R. & Liu-Ambrose, T. (2015). Measuring sleep quality in older adults: A comparison using subjective and objective methods. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 7, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389%2Ffnagi.2015.00166
- Leak, R. K., Weiner, S. L., Chandwani, M. N., & Rhodes, D. C. (2020). Long weekend sleep is linked to stronger academic performance in male but not female pharmacy students. *Advances in Physiology Education*, 44(3), 350–357. https://doi.org/10.1152/advan.00005.2020
- Lee, E. -H. (2012). Review of the psychometric evidence of the Perceived Stress Scale. *Asian Nursing Research*, 6(4). 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anr.2012.08.004
- Life Line Screening. (n.d.). *Chronic stress vs acute stress*. Retrieved November 16, 2020, from https://www.lifelinescreening.com/health-education/diseaseinformation/chronic-stress-vs-acute-

stress?sourcecd=LNSS001&sscid=b1k4_h8ev8#:~:text=Acute%20stress%20is%20sh ort%2Dterm,when%20you%20arent%20there.

Lin, X., Zhang, C., Yang, S., Hsu, M., Cheng, H., Chen, J., & Yu, H. (2020). Stress and its association with academic performance among dental undergraduate students in

Fujian, China: A cross-sectional online questionnaire survey. BMC Medical Education, 20, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-02095-4

- Lumen Learning. (n.d.). *Stressors*. Retrieved November 16, 2020, from https://courses.lumenlearning.com/wmopen-psychology/chapter/stressors/
- Maheshwari, G., & Shaukat, F. (2019). Impact of poor sleep quality on the academic performance of medical students. *Cureus*, 11(4), Article e4357. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.4357
- MedlinePlus. (n.d.). *Stress and your health*. Retrieved November 5, 2020, from https://medlineplus.gov/ency/article/003211.htm#:~:text=Stress%20is%20a%20feelin g%20of,danger%20or%20meet%20a%20deadline.
- Mehfooz, Q. U. A., & Haider, S. I. (2017). Effect of stress on academic performance of undergraduate medical students. *Journal of Community Medicine & Health Education*, 7(6), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0711.1000566
- Melaku, L., Mossie, A., & Negash, A. (2015). Stress among medical students and its association with substance use and academic performance. *Journal of Biomedical Education*, 2015, Article 149509.

https://www.hindawi.com/journals/jbe/2015/149509/

- Ministry of Higher Education. (2020, Jun 16). Chapter 1: Macro higher education institutions. https://www.mohe.gov.my/muat-turun/awam/statistik/2019-1/612-bab-1-makroinstitusi-pendidikan-tinggi-3
- Mirghani, H. O., Mohammed, O. S., Almurtadha, Y. M., & Ahmed, M. S. (2015). Good sleep quality is associated with better academic performance among Sudanese medical students. *BMC Research Notes*, 8, Article 706. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-015-1712-9

Monteiro, N. M., Balogun, S. K., & Oratile, K. N. (2014). Managing stress: The influence of gender, age and emotion regulation on coping among university students in Botswana. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, *19*(2), 153–173. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2014.908784

Moylan, S., Maes, M., Wray, N. R., & Berk, M. (2013). The neuroprogressive nature of major depressive disorder: Pathways to disease evolution and resistance, and therapeutic implications. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 18, 595–606. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2012.33

National Institute of Mental Health. (n.d.). 5 *things you should know about stress*. Retrieved November 9, 2020, from

https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/stress/index.shtml

- Nihayah, M., Ismarulyusda, I., Syarif, H. L., Zakiah, M. S. N., Baharudin, O., & Fadzil, M.
 H. (2011). Sleeping hours and academic achievements: A study among biomedical science students. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 18, 617–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.05.090
- Nurismadiana, I., & Lee, K. (2018). Factors associated with sleep quality among undergraduate students at a Malaysian public university. *International Journal of Public Health and Clinical Sciences*, 5(6), 373–391. https://doi.org/10.32827/ijphcs.5.6.332
- Ohayon, M., Wickwire, E. M., Hirshkowitz, M., Albert, S. M., Avidan, A., Daly, F. J.,
 Dauvilliers, Y., Ferri, R., Fung, C., Gozal, D., Hazen, N., Krystal, A., Lichstein, K.,
 Mallapalli, M., Plazzi, G., Rawding, R., Scheer, F. A., Somers, V., & Vitiello, M. V.
 (2017). National sleep foundation's sleep quality recommendations: First report. *Sleep Health*, *3*(1), 6–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2016.11.006

Okano, K., Kaczmarzyk, J. R., Dave, N., Gabrieli, J. D. E., & Grossman, J. C. (2019). Sleep quality, duration, and consistency are associated with better academic performance in college students. *npj Science of Learning*, *4*, Article 16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41539-019-0055-z

Oketch-Oboth, J. W. B., & Okunya, L. O. (2018). The relationship between levels of stress and academic performance among university of nairobi students. *International Journal of Learning and Development*, 8(4), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.5296/ijld.v8i4.13840

- Olufemi, O. T., Adediran, A. A., & Oyediran, W. O. (2018). Factors affecting students' academic performance in colleges of education in Southwest, Nigeria. *British Journal* of Education, (6)10, 43–56. https://www.eajournals.org/journals/british-journal-ofeducation-bje/vol-6-issue10-october-2018/factors-affecting-students-academicperformance-in-colleges-of-education-in-southwest-nigeria/
- Othman, C. N., Farooqui, M., Yusoff, M. S. B., & Adawiyah, R. (2013). Nature of stress among health science students in a Malaysian university. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 105, 249–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.11.026
- Ozen, N. S., Ercan, I., Irgil, E., & Sigirli, D. (2010). Anxiety prevalence and affecting factors among university students. *Asia Pacific Journal of Public Health*, 22(1), 127–133. https://doi.org/10.1177/1010539509352803
- Pariat, L., Rynjah, A., Joplin, Kharjana, M. G. (2014). Stress level of college students: Interrelationship between stressors and coping strategies. *IOSR Journal of Humanities* and Social Sciences, 19(8), 40–46. https://doi.org/10.9790/0837-19834046
- Pitt, A., Oprescu, F., Tapia, G., & Gray, M. (2017). An exploratory study of students' weekly stress levels and sources of stress during the semester. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1469787417731194

Public Services Comission of Malaysia (n.d). *Diploma/Degree*. Retrieved March 21, 2021, from https://www.spa.gov.my/spa/index.php/en/guidelines/academicqualification/diploma-degree

QuestionPro. (n.d.) Convenience sampling: Definition, applications, advantages, method, and examples. Retrieved November 9, 2020, from https://www.questionpro.com/blog/convenience-sampling/

- Radeef, A. S., Faisal, G. G., Ali, S. M., & Ismail, M. K. H. M. (2014). Source of stressors and emotional disturbances among undergraduates science students in Malaysia. *International Journal of Medical Research & Health Sciences*, 3(2), 401–410.
 https://doi.org/10.5958/j.2319-5886.3.2.082
- Raley, H., Naber, J., Cross, S., & Perlow, M. (2016). The impact of duration of sleep on academic performance in university students. *Madridge Journal of Nursing*, 1(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.18689/mjn-1000103
- Rasch, B., & Born, J. (2013). About sleep's role in memory. *Physiological Reviews*, 93(2), 681–766. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00032.2012
- Ribeiro, I. J. S., Pereira, R., Freire, I. V., Oliveira, B. G. de, Casotti, C. A., & Boery, E. N. (2018). Stress and quality of life among university students: A systematic literature review. *Health Professions Education*, 4(2), 70–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hpe.2017.03.002

Rose, S., & Ramanan, S. (2018). Effect of sleep deprivation on the academic performance and cognitive functions among the college students: A cross sectional study. *Journal* of Chalmeda Anand Rao Institute of Medical Sciences, 14(2), 51–56.
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326300672_Effect_of_Sleep_Deprivation_o n_the_Academic_Performance_and_Cognitive_Functions_among_the_College_Stude nts_A_Cross_Sectional_Study

- Salmani, A. A., Shidani, A. A., Qassabi, S. S. A., Yaarabi, S. A. A., & Musharfi, A. M. A.
 (2020). Prevalence of sleep disorders among university students and its impact on academic performance. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 25(1), 974– 981. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2020.1815550
- Schlarb, A. A., Friedrich, A., & Claßen, M. Sleep problems in university students an intervention. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 13. 1989–2001. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S142067
- Schneider, M. L. D. M., Vasconcellos, D. C., Dantas, G., Lewandowski, R., Caumo, W., Allebrandt, K. V., Doring, M., & Hidalgo, M. P. L. (2011). Morningness– eveningness, use of stimulants, and minor psychiatric disorders among undergraduate students. *International Journal of Psychology*, 46(1), 18–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207594.2010.513414
- Scott, B., Modna, Y., Khashchuk, D., & Duke, J. (2019). The interrelationship between perceived stress level, sleep quality, and academic performance among students of a Caribbean medical school. *Anatomy Physiology & Biochemistry International Journal*, 6(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.19080/APBIJ.2019.06.555676
- Segaren, S. (2018, December 19). *The impact of sleep on academic performance*. Study International. https://www.studyinternational.com/2018/12/19/the-impact-of-sleep-onacademic-performance/
- Seun-Fadipe, C. T., & Mosaku, K. M. (2017). Sleep quality and academic performance among Nigerian undergraduate students. *Journal of Systems and Integrative Neuroscience*, 3(5), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.15761/JSIN.1000179
- Shahzadi, E., & Ahmad, Z. (2011, February 8–9). A study on academic performance of university students. [Paper presentation]. Proc. 8th International Conference on

Recent Advances in Statistics Lahore, Pakistan.

https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.3949.3126

- Shiel, W. (2018, November 12). *Medicine definition of stress*. MedicineNet. https://www.medicinenet.com/stress/definition.htm
- Siraj, H. H., Salam, A., Roslan, R., Hasan, N. A., Tan, H. J., & Othman M. N. (2014). Sleep pattern and academic performance of undergraduate medical students at Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia. *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, 4(12), 052–055. https://doi.org/10.7324/JAPS.2014.41209

Sohail, N. (2013). Stress and academic performance among medical students. *Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan*, 23(1), 67–71.
 https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Stress-and-academic-performance-among-medical-Sohail/f22d6d7c560864970ab13025b6be80f729eb7059?p2df

- Solomon, O. (2013). *Exploring the relationship between resilience, perceived stress and academic performance*. [Unpublished undergraduate honors thesis]. Manchester Metropolitan University.
- Sommer, M., & Dumont, K. (2011). Psychosocial factors predicting academic performance of students at a historically disadvantaged university. *South African Journal of Psychology*, 41(3), 386–395. https://doi.org/10.1177/008124631104100312
- Talib, N., & Zia-ur-Rehman, M. (2012). Academic performance and perceived stress among university students. *Educational Research and Review*, 7(5), Article 5A350E04446. https://academicjournals.org/journal/ERR/article-abstract/5A350E04446

Taylor, D. J., Vatthauer, K. E., Bramoweth, A. D., Ruggero, C., & Roane, B. (2013). The role of sleep in predicting college academic performance: Is it a unique predictor. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, *11*(3), 159–172.
https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2011.602776

- Thabane, L., Ma, J., Chu, R., Cheng, J., Ismaila, A., Rios, L. P., Robson, R., Thabane, M., Giangregorio, L. & Goldsmith, C. H. (2010). A tutorial on pilot studies: The what, why and how. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *10*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-10-1
- Thawabieh, A. M., & Qaisy, L. M. (2012). Assessing stress among university students. *American International Journal of Contemporary Research*, 2(2), 110–116. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Assessing-Stress-among-University-Students-Ahmad-Thawabieh/e838dce26e59e28a93744ebb93b55afa28691579#paper-header
- Tipton, R. J. (2020). Perceived stress in gifted adolescents: An exploratory study. *ProQuest*. https://search.proquest.com/openview/c6185dc0c697fab31a8317ed8443616d/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Toscano-Hermoso, M. D., Arbinaga, F., Fernández-Ozcorta, E. J., Gómez-Salgado, J., & Ruiz-Frutos, C. (2020). Influence of sleeping patterns in health and academic performance among university students. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(8), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17082760
- Verma, R., Balhara, Y. P. S., & Gupta, C. S. (2011). Gender differences in stress response: Role of developmental and biological determinants. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 20(1), 4–10. https://doi.org/10.4103/0972-6748.98407
- Voinescu, B. I., & Szentagotai-Tatar, A. (2015). Sleep hygiene awareness: Its relation to sleep quality and diurnal preference. *Journal of Molecular Psychiatry*, 3(1), 1. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s40303-015-0008-2
- Yelkpieri, D. (2011). Coping with stress: Strategies adopted by students at the Winneba campus of university of education, Winneba, Ghana. US-China Education Review B 2, 290–299. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED528318

- Yi, H., Shin, K., & Shin, C. (2006). Development of the Sleep Quality Scale. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *15*(3), 309–316. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2006.00544.x
- Zavecz, Z., Nagy, T., Galkó, A., & Janacsek, K. (2020). The relationship between subjective sleep quality and cognitive performance in healthy young adults: Evidence from three empirical studies. *Scientific Reports, 10*, Article 4855. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-61627-6

Appendix A

Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)

The questions in this scale ask you about your feelings and thoughts during the last month. In each case, you will be asked to indicate by circling how often you felt or thought a certain way.

Name:		Date:
Age:	Gender (Circle): M F Other:	

0 = Never 1 = Almost Never 2 = Sometimes 3 = Fairly Often 4 = Very Often

1.	In the last month, how often have you been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly?	0	1	2	3	4
2.	In the last month, how often have you felt that you were unable to control the important things in your life?	0	1	2	3	4
3.	In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and "stressed"?	0	1	2	3	4
4.	In the last month, how often have you felt confident about your ability to handle your personal problems?	0	1	2	3	4
5.	In the last month, how often have you felt that things were going your way?	0	1	2	3	4
6.	In the last month, how often have you found that you could not cope with all the things that you had to do?	0	1	2	3	4
7.	In the last month, how often have you been able to control irritations in your life?	0	1	2	3	4
8.	In the last month, how often have you felt that you were on top of things?	0	1	2	3	4
9.	In the last month, how often have you been angered because of things that were outside of your control?	0	1	2	3	4

10.	In the last month, how often have you felt	0	1	2	3	4
	difficulties were piling up so high that you could					
	not overcome them?					

Appendix B

Sleep Quality Scale (SQS)

The following survey is to know the quality of sleep you had for the last one month. Read the questions and check the closest answer.

Examples

Rarely : None or 1 -3 times a month

Sometimes : 1 -2 times a week

Often : 3 -5 times a week

Almost always : 6 -7 times a week

		Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Almost
					always
1	I have difficult falling asleep.				
2	I fall into a deep sleep.				
3	I wake up while sleeping.				
4	I have difficulty getting back to				
	sleep once I wake up in middle of				
	the night.				
5	I wake up easily because of noise.				
6	I toss and turn.				
7	I never go back to sleep after				
	awakening during sleep.				
8	I feel refreshed after sleep.				
9	I feel unlikely to sleep after sleep.				
10	Poor sleep gives me headaches.				
11	Poor sleep makes me irritated.				
12	I would like to sleep more after				
	waking up.				
13	My sleep hours are enough.				
14	Poor sleep makes me lose my				
	appetite.				

SLEEP QUALITY AND STRESS AMONG UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS

15	Poor sleep makes hard for me to			
	think.			
16	I feel vigorous after sleep.			
17	Poor sleep makes me lose interest			
	in work or others.			
18	My fatigue is relieved after sleep.			
19	Poor sleep causes me to make			
	mistakes at work.			
20	I am satisfied with my sleep.			
21	Poor sleep makes me forget things			
	more easily.			
22	Poor sleep makes it hard to			
	concentrate at work.			
23	Sleepiness interferes with my daily			
	life.			
24	Poor sleep makes me lose desire in			
	all things.			
25	I have difficulty getting out of bed.			
26	Poor sleep makes me easily tired at			
	work.			
27	I have clear head after sleep.			
28	Poor sleep makes my life painted.			

Appendix C

Boxplots for Sleep Quality Scale (SQS)

SUM_SQS



Appendix D

Boxplots for Perceived Stress Skills (PSS)

SUM_PSS





Appendix E

Turnitin Originality Report

Sleep quality, stress and academic performance among undergraduate students in Malaysia

ORIGIN	ALITY REPORT			
	1% ARITY INDEX	6%	4% PUBLICATIONS	9% STUDENT PAPERS
PRIMAR	RY SOURCES			
1	Submittee Student Paper	d to Universiti Tu	inku Abdul Ral	hman 3%
2	Submittee Student Paper	d to Indiana Stat	e University	1 %
3	Submittee Student Paper	d to Wawasan O	pen University	< 1 %
4	Submittee Student Paper	d to HELP UNIV	ERSITY	<1%
5	Submittee Student Paper	d to Universiti Ma	alaysia Sarawa	^{ak} < 1 %
6	Submittee Student Paper	d to University of	f Strathclyde	<1%
7	link.spring	-		<1%
8	Submittee Student Paper	d to Flinders Uni	versity	<1%
		proce com		

test.dovepress.com

9